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SPALDING : SOME ASPECTS OF POPULATION CHANGE 1851-188]

Bernard Clark
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Fig. 1 Henrietta Street

The advantages of the new area included its location fairly close to the town centre and its
nearness to the railway station (opened 1848). However, land must have been available for sale at a
reasonable cost and so building began in the late 1850s, continuing until World War 1 with some
later infilling. Expansion westwards was limited by the railway line to Holbeach (opened 1858)
and northwards by Winsover Road.

The first houses were erected on Spring Gardens, followed by Henrietta Street in the 1860s, with
Spring Street and Cross Street in the 1870s. By 1881 these were fairly well built up and expansion
along St. Thomas's Road had virtually reached the Grammar School (opened 1881). Green Lane had
also grown westwards towards the railway line and building on Havelock Street had just begun.

Some of the earliest dwellings in the area were built at the corner of Green Lane and Cross Streel
in the unusual form of a three storeyed terrace. They could only have been built for rent, but the
experiment was not repeated as all the remaining dwellings were two storeyed. Sizes and styles
varied greatly according to the individual tastes and resources and some very substantial houses
were built. The end result was an attractive variety which gave the area its distin‘ct character.

[ S



.
ol ‘
. » 5

Fig. 2 St. Thomas's Road

The majority of the new residents were lower middle class except on Cross Street and included a
significant number of retired people, with the means to purchase or rent the new houses. This may
be a reflection of the prosperity of the area during the ‘Golden Age Of Agriculture’ which
continued into the 1870s. In Spring Gardens, for instance, 45.5% of houscholders were listed as
‘retired’ or "annuitants’ in 1881, as were 50.0% in Henrietta Street and 51.7% in Spring Street. They
included a number of farmers, no doubt drawn to an urban life on retirement.

A second area of expansion 1n the period was Pinchbeck Street, as it was then called. In 1851 it was
built up on the west side as far as Stepping Stones Lane (now King's Road), with mainly small
houses, an inn, the Spread Eagle, the Independent Chapel and the British School (now the Masonic
Hall). The east side had more open space, but contained the then largest private house on the
street, immediately north of the Peacock Inn. Way out, near the present junction with West Elloe
Avenue, lay the Union House (workhouse). There were only 21 households with a total population

of 100. Occupations were varied, but most of the householders would have regarded themselves as
middle class.

By 1881 the scene had changed considerably, with buildings stretching along the length of the
street as far as the railway crossing. Most of the expansion was northwards from the junction with
Stepping Stones Lane and continued to be middle class. There were now 48 households with 195
inhabitants and some of the new houses were of considerable size. These included Mercia Lodge,
an attractive building occupied by George Barrell, an aptly named wine and spirit merchant, Elm
House, the home of Henry Caulton who farmed 300 acres and Charnwood, occupied by the Rev.
J.C. Jones and his family.

In the newly built area the middle class aspirations of the occupants were demonstrated by the
numerous ‘villas’ named in the census (Figs. 3 & 4). They were more frequent on the east side of
the street and included Peacock Villa, Elton Villas, Castle Villas, and so on. There was, however, a
Hames Terrace which housed a working class enclave and was situated on the east side, just beyond
Charnwood. Occupants included an agricultural labourer, a road labourer, a charwoman and two
general labourers: 13 out of the 48 householders were retired.

The presence of the waterworks on Pinchbeck Road i1s indicated in the census by ‘Waterworks
House' occupied by an ‘engine driver’, John Dobson. They were built in the early 1860s and
provided local water, but by 1881 better quality supplies were piped in from Bourne. Other
interesting residents included William Wright, a railway engineer, who was probably associated
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headmaster of the new Board School on Westlode Street, the first state school 1o be ¢ eCled
town. Mr. Church lived at ‘The Castle’ on Pinchbeck Road 1n I881. The Union House (w :
Was }.'rn\vl'llcd l\_\’ the master, George Bemrose, and his wife Rebecca was the ma i

resident staff were a schoolmaster, schoolmistress, nurse and porter
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Fig. 3 Charnwood
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Fig. 4 Pinchbeck Street - Villas

Hawthorn Bank also experienced a considerable amount of building between 1851 and 1881 when
the population increased from 113 to 257 and the number of households nearly doubled, from 28 10
32. Most of the new building took place at the northern end of the road between St. John's Church

and Winsover Road and the predominantly agricultural population of 1851 was transformed 1nto 4
much more varied one by 1881,



INS) 15 houscholders out of I8 were J‘,‘,l‘n'llllll\.ll labourers, Y were larmers and one was the
Proj a steam engine’ almost certainly used for agricultural purposes. However, by 1881
v a quarter of the householders (13 out of 52) worked in agriculture as labourers, gardeners o1
arket gardeners and there were 2 farmers. Of the remaining 37 the variety ol occupations was
‘-\\11\"_\;.\“.“.'{‘3.\'. .‘.!:Z!\\‘\I:.Z‘.l !.lli\\.l\ workers were dominant. uu‘lud;ng several pl;ll(‘l.l\(‘lﬁ. R ‘QU.'\Yd. d
~orter, an engine driver and a ticket collector. The leading resident in 1881 was the Rev. Augustus
\Vipore, Vical of the recently built (IN/5) St. John's (‘h“n-h‘\[hp \'i\*;“';\gc uppnsilc 1S NOW a ll\lfSil\g
wome). He, together with John Stimson, grocer and seed merchant, were the only two houscholders
» emplov resident domestic servants in 1881. The majority of the rest were working class people,
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Albert Streel, 100, was an area of expansion during this period. It was named after the Prince
~ t and . sallv . . E . . :

Consort and was initially an offshoot of Holbeach Road close to the busiest part of the port. in

1851 there was no Commercial Road and Holbeach Road began at the top of High Street, extending
northwards along the east side of the Welland. Most of the pcnplc then were housed 1n (erraces
and a good example still remains dated 1843
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Altogether there were 114 people living in 29 households in 1851, Occupations were pre dominantly
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manual, with nearly half the heads of households working either on the land or at sea, 8 of the 29
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urers and 6 were listed as ‘wives' or ‘wives of mariners’, presumably with
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By IS81, however, the population of the street had risen to 207 living in 50 houscholds. This
indicates turther building, extending away from the river. A terrace of the period, dated 1873 (Fig.
, still exists today on the north side. The street surface would be of hard-packed earth, like most

of the roads away from the town centre at that time: it was not made up until a century later.
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Fig. 5 Terrace Dated 1873

Of the S0 householders in 1881, 11 worked in agriculture, although only 3 of these were listed as
agricultural labourers: the others were mainly farmers or ‘gardeners’, the latter being probably
little better than labourers. There was one poultry breeder, William Massey. The agricultural
connection was. therefore, still in evidence, as was the maritime association, despite the decline of
the port. However the latter was more 1€nuous than in 1851, with only one active mariner and 2
mariners’ wives listed. The remaining householders had such a variety of occupations that it is not
possible to generalise, but the majority still remained in the working class.






